Public Document Pack

Councillor Conduct Committee
Monday, 21 October 2019 at 6.30 pm
Room 3, Civic Centre, Silver Street, Enfield,
EN1 3XA

Contact: Penelope Williams
Secretary
Direct : 020-8132-1330
Tel: 020-8379-1000
Ext: 4098
E-mail: Penelope.Williams@enfield.gov.uk
Council website: www.enfield.gov.uk

Councillors : Ergin Erbil (Chair), Glynis Vince (Vice-Chair), Christine Hamilton and
Elaine Hayward
Independent Persons: Christine Chamberlain and Sarah Jewell
AGENDA – PART 1
1.

WELCOME AND APOLOGIES

2.

SUBSTITUTIONS
Any members who wishes to appoint a substitute for this meeting must notify
the Monitoring Officer in writing, before the beginning of the meeting, of the
intended substitution.
Any notifications received will be reported at the meeting.

3.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
Members are asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary, other pecuniary or
non-pecuniary interests relating to items on the agenda.

4.

APPEAL HEARING (Pages 1 - 30)
To carry out a hearing in relation to an appeal against a Monitoring Officer
decision on a councillor complaint. (Report No: 124)

5.

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 31 - 40)
To receive and agree the minutes of the meeting held on 4 September 2019.

6.

DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS
To note the dates agreed for future meetings of the Committee:



Wednesday 4 December 2019
Tuesday 3 March 2020

Page 1

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2019/2020 REPORT NO.

MEETING TITLE AND DATE:
Councillor Conduct
Committee
21 October 2019
REPORT OF:
Jeremy Chambers
Monitoring Officer &
Director of Law and
Governance

Agenda Item 4

124

Item: 4
Agenda – Part: 1
1
Subject: Appeal Against the Monitoring
Officer Decision on breach of Code of
Conduct

Cabinet Member consulted:

N/A

Contact officer and telephone number:
Jeremy Chambers Jeremy.chambers@enfield.gov.uk, 020 8379 4799

1.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1. This report refers to a complaint from Josie Nicolaou and George Christou against
Councillor Terry Neville. The complaint alleged breaches of the Councillors’ Code
of Conduct (“the Code”), as set out in the investigation of the complaint Report
Appendix A. The complaint included alleged breaches of the following, in the Code:
Principles 8.1, 8.3,8.5,8.6,8.8 and 8.10. and Rules of Conduct 11, 12(1) and 12(3).
2. The Monitoring Officer, Jeremy Chambers, instructed Dina Boodhun, Senior
Solicitor to investigate the complaint in accordance with the Code. The Monitoring
Officer accepted the findings in the investigation of the complaint Report, attached
at Appendix A, that the matters complained about did not amount to breaches of
the Code, by Councillor Terry Neville, and therefore the complaint was not upheld.
3. Josie Nicolaou and George Christou have appealed the decision, to the Councillor
Conduct Committee. and their reasons are set out in correspondence at Appendix
B. The response of the Monitoring Officer is attached as Appendix C.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1. The Committee, having reviewed the Monitoring Officer’s decision, the
independent investigation into the complaint Report and the representations in
support of the appeal, decides whether or not to grant the appeal.
2. If the Committee decides to grant the appeal and not to uphold the decision
then, the Committee will need to consider what sanctions, if any to apply as
detailed in the procedure for Hearing Complaints set out in the Constitution, and
attached at Appendix D.

Page 2

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

The investigation into the complaint Report, attached at
Appendix A, includes interviews with the complainants and
Councillor Neville.

3.2

The Independent Person has been consulted throughout the
process.

3.3

The Monitoring Officer agreed with the findings of the
investigation into the complaint Report, at Appendix A, and
agreed with the conclusion, that, Councillor Neville’s actions did
not amount to a breach of the Code of Conduct.

3.4

Josie Nicolaou and George Christou do not accept the findings of the
investigation of the complaint Report, at Appendix A, nor the decision
of the Monitoring Officer, at Appendix C. The Committee must have
regard to the representations in support of the Appeal document, at
Appendix B, and its contents in making its decision.

4.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED
None

5.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
As set out in the report

6.

COMMENTS OF OTHER DEPARTMENTS
6.1

Financial Implications

None
6.2

Legal Implications

These are contained within the body of the report and the investigation
report.
6.3

Property Implications

None
7.

KEY RISKS
None

8.

IMPACT ON COUNCIL PRIORITIES – CREATING A LIFETIME OF
OPPORTUNITIES IN ENFIELD

Page 3

8.1
8.2
8.3

Good homes in well-connected neighbourhoods
Sustain strong and healthy communities
Build our local economy to create a thriving place

The ability to scrutinise the actions of Councillors, to have concerns
investigated and addressed assists in enhancing transparency and
good-decision making and in increasing the confidence of the
Community in the Council.
9.

EQUALITIES IMPACT IMPLICATIONS
Where applicable contained within the body of the reports and the
Councillors’ Code of Conduct as set out in the Council’s Constitution

10.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
Where applicable contained within the body of the reports and the
Councillors’ Code of Conduct as set out in the Council’s Constitution

11.

HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
Where applicable contained within the body of the reports and the
Councillors’ Code of Conduct as set out in the Council’s Constitution

12.

HR IMPLICATIONS
Where applicable contained within the body of the reports and the
Councillors’ Code of Conduct as set out in the Council’s Constitution

13.

PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS
Where applicable contained within the body of the reports and the
Councillors’ Code of Conduct as set out in the Council’s Constitution

14.

Background papers
Appendix A - Investigation Report of Dina Boodhun
Appendix B - Representations in support of the appeal by the
complainants.
Appendix C - Response of the Monitoring Officer
Appendix D - Appeal Hearing procedure

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 5

Appendix A

REPORT INTO COMPLAINT DATED 25.01.2019
MADE BY MS JOSIE NICOLAOU AGAINST COUNCILLOR TERENCE NEVILLE

DB

Page 1

Page 6

Appendix A

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This is a report into a complaint dated 25 th January 2019 by Ms Josie Nicolaou (The
Complainant), (The Complaint is attached at JN1 ). The Complainant alleges breaches by
Cllr TN of the Code of Conduct for Members, set out in full and addressed below.

Complaints

-The Complainant, JN, asserts that Cllr Terence Neville (TN)should have spoken to both . .

fSIIINt (DB) and JN and not solely DB.
-The Complainant also asserts that TN had a ' personal relationship/friendship with DB and

should not be permitted to speak on behalf of DB' [at any planning committee].
- The Complainant asserts that there was 'familiarity between he _and DB and therefore, lack of

independence'
- The Complai°nant asserts that TN had a subjective and biased intervention and that TN had
corresponded with DB and was awaiting to hear from DB on whether DB was 'happy' with the
situation before TN removed any 'block', contrary to Rule 12(3) of the Code , set out below.
-The Complainant asserts that TN's 'non-transparent intervention in this matter along with the

lack of impartiality' ....
- The Complainant asserts that TN's failure to respond to both JC and us .....

'Shows a clear frustration of process and abuse of power'.
Public. Duties of Members

7. You have an overriding duty to act in the interests of the London Borough of Enfield's
area as a whole, but also have a particular duty to represent the view of the residents of
your ward.

The Code of Conduct for Member of London Borough of Enfield ('The Code')
General Principles of Conduct
8. In carrying out your duties, in exercising the functions of the Authority, or otherwise
acting as a Councillor, you will be expected to observe the following general principles of
conduct. These principles will be taken into consideration when any allegation is received
of breaches of the provisions of the Code.
8.1 Selflessness

DB

Page2

Page 7

Appendix A

\

You should take decisions solely in terms of the public interest. You should not seek to
gain financial or other material benefits for yourself, your family, or friends.
- the Complainant asserts that there was 'familiarity between he and DB and therefore, lack of
independence (in breach of selflessness and honesty)'

8.3 Objectivity
In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, awarding contracts, or
recommending individuals for rewards and benefit, you should make choices on merit.
The Complainant asserts that TN did not consult or contact the Complainant o r ~
her husband on the planning matter. The Complainant had copied in TN to email correspondence
and had not received any acknowledgment. The Complainant asserts that TN was selective
contrary to this principle and contrary to paragraph 12( 1) of the Code, set out below.

8.5 Openness
You should be as open as possible about all the decisions and actions you take. You should give
reasons for your decisions and restrict information only when the wider public interest clearly
demands.
The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this principle, based on the above
complaint.

8.6 Honesty
You have a duty to declare any private interests relating to your public duties and to take steps to
resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest.
The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this principle, based on the above
complaint.

8.8 Respect for Others
You should promote equality by not discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating
people with respect, regardless of their race, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability.
You should. respect the impartial role of the authority's statutory officers, and its other employees.
On Respect - See also Rules of Conduct that stipulates
12(1) Treat others with respect and courtesy
The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this Rule 12( 1), based on the above
complaint.

DB

Page 3

Page 8

Appendix A

12(3) You should not use or attempt to use your position as a member improperly to confer on or

secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage.
The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this Rule 12(3), based on the above
complaint
8.10 Stewardship
You should do whatever you are able to do to ensure that the Authority uses its resources
prudently and in accordance with the law.
The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this principle, based on the above
complaint.
Rule 11 Expectations of Conduct

You shall at all times conduct yourself in a manner which will maintain and strengthen the public's
trust and confidence in the integrity of the Authority and never undertake any action which would
bring the Authority, you or other member or officers generally, into disrepute.
The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this Rule 11, based on the above
complaint.

I recommend that the Council does not uphold all alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct
for Members of the London Borough of Enfield ..
The background to the Complaint, the evidence considered and the reasoning for my
recommendations are set out in the body of the report.

1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. I am a Solicitor at Enfield Council. I was admitted to the Roll of Solicitors in May 1999.
1.2. On 24 th January 2019, complaints were received by the Monitoring Officer Jeremy
Chambers. Having consulted with the Independent Person, Jeremy Chambers has agreed
that the complaints meet the criteria for investigation and has asked me to investigate. The
outcome of my investigation has been reported to Jeremy Chambers who will consider
whether he agrees or not with my recommendations.
1.3. The role of the independent person
Section 28(7) of the Local ism Act 2011 requires a relevant authority to appoint at least one
independent person whose views must be sought, and taken into account, by the authority before
it makes its decision on an allegati.on that it has decided to investigate.
Members who have had an allegation made against them may, if they wish, also seek the views
of the independent person.
1.4. I have interviewed the following people on the following dates.
conducted by telephone and in-person:

DB

The interviews were

Page 4

Page 9

Appendix A

Ms Josie Nicolaou - Telephone interview on 19th March 2019 (slightly delayed due to
maternity reasons )
Councillor Terence Neville - in person interview on 21 st March 2019
1.5. I sent the report to the Council's Monitoring Officer on 23 rd July 2019.

2. BACKGROUND TO COMPLAINT
The Complainant is a constituent of the Ward of Councillor Terence Neville (TN). The complaint
arose as a result the delay in processing and determining a planning application. The planning
application received an objection from a neighbour. Mr (DB). DB raised objections and
approached TN for support.
During the course of my investigation, I have received and considered emails from both the
Complainant JN, and from TN. The emails have been helpful in considering the context of the
complaint about the alleged breaches. I set out a summary of the emails that I have
considered, for both parties.
EMAILS AND CORRESPONDENCE FROM COMPLAINANT TO PLANNING DEPARTMENT FROM 20TH
AUGUST 2018 TO 22 ND JANUARY 2019
August 2018

Letter dated 20.08.2018 from planning team to � acknowledging the application
registered on 15th August 2018 for the proposed work.
October 2018

Email 31.10.18 � to�confirming receipt of the plans and JC to either
recommend for approval or revert with queries if applicable.
November 2018

Email 05.11.18 GC to JC sending revised drawings
Email 07.11.18 JC to GC informing the dormer is now acceptable and requesting a picture of the existing
rear of the property.
Email 09.11.18 � to� requesting extension of time to 15.11.18 for council to
sign off the planning application.
Email 13.11.18 (10.17)JC TO GC -request to alter the dormer windows and send a revised elevation.
Email 13.11.18 (11.54) GC to designer to narrow the dormer windows.
Email 19.11.18 (09.55) GC to JC inquiring about planning sign off on 15th November.
Email JC to GC 19.11.18 (no time on email) relayed that a cllr had raised a concern about
scheme/extension. JC said he was corresponding with the cllr to avoid the application going to planning
committee where JC said it would be debated and may be refused. JC mentioned that he'd be on leave
and so would his mngr so sign off may be delayed.
Email 21.11.18 GC to JC inquiring as to whether there had been a resolution of the cl Ir's concerns.
December 2018

DB

Page 5

Page 10

Appendix A

Email 03.12.18 GC to JC requesting an update on the planning application and cllr's comments.
Email 11.12.18 (16.04) GC to JC re productive meeting with neighbours no 31 The Chine and concern re
taking down the fence. Informed JC that neighbours to speak to councillor to remove objections. GC
requested update if JC heard from cllr to confirm this.
Email JC to GC 11.12.18 (16.06) to say will let GC know if he hears from the cllr
Email GC to JC 13.12.18 requesting update on cllr Neville's feedback. Reference to forwarding a letter if it
would help (Investigator has not seen this letter). Mention by GC that JC had said he would be away for
quite some time so GC wanted to progress before JC went away.
Email 19.12.18 GC TO JC request for application to proceed to planning committee as party wall dispute.
Reference to cllr objections no planning revisions re elevations. Proposal to be recommended for
planning. Request to know what are cllr objections as unaware of the nature of these.
Email 19.12.18 GC to architect? Jose re final revised drawings for formal submission.
January 2019

Email 15.01.19 (20.59) GC to JC requesting an update on the application and cllr objections. Also said that
still unaware of the nature of the objections to the revised planning drawings.
Email 15.01.19 (21.17) GC to David Gittens planning department requesting update on the planning
application, in JC's absence. Raised that the planning application continues to be blocked by a local cllr.
Also raised a close association/relationship between neighbour no 31. Raised that GC would be making a
formal complaint against the cllr's behaviour alleging an abuse of power that is continuing. Requested
council's procedures for dealing with this type of complaint and what is the formal process.
Email 22.01.19 GC to JC. GC raised the delay about the date of the planning committee in Feb 2019 and
why was it not held? Wanted next steps as complained about the cllr being unclear about his concerns
and being unable to prepare for planning committee if GC did not know fully about the cllr objections.
Raised that the process appeared to be unfair as a result of the lack of knowledge about the cllr
objections. Notice that a complaint against the cllr's conduct would be raised as there was a perception of
an abuse of power. Also want to escalate the matter with LBE as unhappy with the way that the planning
application was being handled. Requested the relevant complaints procedures.
EMAILS FROM COUNCILLOR TERENCE NEVILLE TO PLANNING DEPT/09.11.2018 TO 31.01.2019

Email 09.11.2018 (23.50) Cllr TN to Andy Higham(AH) This email is the request to AH to refuse the
application on the grounds raised as the objections or if the officers disagreed with his view to refuse the
application, then to refer the application to the Planning Committee. Cllr TN relayed that he had been
approached by� (DB) owner of the adjacent detached property about the objections to the
planning application on the basis that (1) the proposed developm_e nt would have serious adverse effects
on DB's property by way of reduction in light caused by the proposed height of a solid brick wall close to
DB's party wall (2) DB's view from the rear living room would be seriously affected (3) proposed
development was out of character with the other houses (4) the proposed development was within a
conservation area.
Email 09.11.18 DB to Cllr TN confirming receipt of the email that TN sent to AH

as above, having been passed it from AH. JC attached the revised plans and drawings for TN to review. JC

DB

Page 6

Page 11

Appendix A

requested TN to withdraw the objections/refer to planning committee so that the application could be
dealt with by delegated powers.
Email 27.11.18 10.54:16 JC to TN following up if the revised plans had been considered.
Email 27.11.18 22.42 TN TO JC informing him that due to a number of other pressures the revised plans
not as yet considered, however, TN would attempt to consider them at the weekend.
Email 13.12.18 GC to JC request about whether there had been any feedback from TN . Reference to JC on
leave for 'quite some time'.
Email 13.12.18 JC to GC and JN informing that he had not heard from TN but had send a follow up email to
TN.
Email 15.12.18 GC to DB CC'd JC and TN re party wall notice requesting DB to action the party wall notice
before Christmas and before JC went on extended leave.
Email Sunday 16.12.18 TN to DB requesting confirmation from DB about whether he is ok with the
planning application, as TN being pressed for the response and TN abroad from Wednesday 19 th
December. TN confirmed that 'we need to put to bed before I leave'
Email 17.12.18 ~ i i ( J A on behalf of DB) to GC CC'd DB/JC and TN re the party wall notice
requesting various actions to resolve the matter.
Email 18.12.18 Josie Nicolaou (JN) to TN and JC. CC'd JC/DB/GC contesting the items raised by JA. Also JC
raised concerns 'as to the powers which Mr Neville is relying on to hold the planning ... '
Email 18.12.18 TN to DB informing DB that TN is inclined to agree with GC that PWN is not relevant to the
planning application and as TN due to be away on leave, TN to let GC know. Asked if DB disagreed.
Email 19.12.18 JA to JN and GC. CC'd TN,JC,DB and GC re party wall issues
Email 19.12.18 GC to JA and JC. CC'd DB/TN/JN attaching the revised drawings. Party wall issues.
Email 20.12.18 GC to JA et al as above re party wall matters and GC confirms JC's acknowledgment of the
revised drawings of updated version of the elevation .
Email 15.01.19 GC to JC CC'd DG/JN. JC out of office so email to DG . Planning committee request. Request
for next steps to make a complaint for the delays and against the TN under the councillor's code of
conduct.
Email 22.01.19 05.26 PM JC to GC no withdrawal of the comments so will go to Planning Committee
agenda for March 2019,
Email 22.01.19 17.42 GC to JC CC'd DG/JN Query re the planning committee date in Feb. Wanted next
steps to complain about the planning and councillor's conduct.
Email 22.01.2019 GC to DB CC'd JN/TN/JA Party wall matters. Request for DB to request TN to remove
'his objection'.
Email 24.01.2019 JC to AH/DG re the previous emails from JC to TN . Notification to AH about the revised
plans and renotification and 'good to go'.
Email 30.01.19 AH to TN. CC'd Helen Otter(HO). AH request for TN to confirm whether TN is happy for the
planning application to be determined by officers or whether the concerns/objections remain.

OB

Page 7

Page 12

Appendix A

Email 31.01.19 TN TO AH CC'D HO. TN confirmed that he was happy for the planning application to
proceed.

3. RELEVANT
CONDUCT

LEGISLATION

AND

PROTOCOLS

AND

THE

CODE

OF

3.1 Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 (the Act) provides that a relevant authority (of which the
Council/Authority is one) must promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members and
co-opted members of the Authority. In discharging this duty, the Authority must adopt a code
dealing with the conduct that is "expected of members and co-opted members of the Authority
when they are acting in that capacity."
3.2 Section 28 of the Act provides that the Authority must secure that its Code of Conduct is,
when viewed as a whole, consistent with the following principles:(a) Selflessness;
(b) Integrity;
(c) Objectivity;
(d) Accountability;
(e) Openness;
(f) Honesty;
(g) Leadership.

3.3 The Council, most recently, adopted a Code of Conduct on 17 July 2013 under the provisions
of the Localism Act 2011, the Code is found on the Council's website at
http://governance.enfield.qov.uk/documents/s67628/PART%205.pdf :.
3.4 Paragraph 3 of ~he Code states:"The Code applies to you in all aspects of your activities as ~ member, including when acting
on Authority business, ward business or when otherwise purporting to act as a member. It does
not seek to regulate what you do in your private and personal lives."
3.5 Due to paragraph 3 of the Code, and to the statutory provisions of s27(2) of the Locatism Act
2011, as a preliminary issue, it is important to consider whether, or not the Code applied at the
time of the issues complained of. The Code does not apply when an elected member is acting in
his or her private capacity. Before I can be satisfied that the conduct complained of is a breach of
the Code, I have to be satisfied that the Councillor was "acting as a Member". In this case,
Councillor TN was supporting a resident who had approached him about the planning application
made by the Complainant, JN, on grounds where the resident had presented what appeared to
be valid grounds of concern about the planning application. All correspondence between the
Authority's planning officers and TN were in his capacity as a Councillor, so it seems clear that
TN was acting as a member, not in any private capacity. Therefore, the Code was applicable at
the time relating to the issues of complaint, as set out above.

4.

DB

THE COUNCIL'S CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS

Page 8

Page 13

Appendix A

The relevant sections of the Code of Conduct in relation to this Complaint are set out above, and
can be found in the link above, therefore I will not repeat them.

5. EVIDENCE CONSIDERED

19.03.19 INTERVIEW IN PERSON WITH COUNCILLOR TERENCE NEVILLE
IN RESPONSE TO THE COMPLAINT BY JOSIE NICOLAOU
Councillor TN was approached by his constituent DB, as DB was concerned about the possibility
that the result of granting the planning application in its initial request, would be that DB would
not have a clear view out of his room. In addition, the area is a conservation area.TN agreed
to make representations on behalf of DB about the planning application and DB's concerns.
TN said that he could raise an objection on DB's behalf whereby the matter could be referred
to planning committee for a decision.
The matter could have gone to planning committee in December 2018 as November was too
close for TN to raise the objection and have it dealt with by planning committee in November.
TN was abroad on holiday from 18th December to 9th January 2019. TN did not see the email
from ~ t h e Complainant's husband, about the party wall agreement while he was
on holiday. The planning objection continue until 19th December. From the email dated 19.12.18,
the revised drawings from ~ w e r e submitted to all parties including the planning
officer.
TN had sent an email to DB asking DB if his objection had been resolved see email dated
16.12.18.

With reference to having a personal/friendship/relationship with DB, TN said that he only knows
DB as a result of the Grange Park Residents Association.
With reference to the 'further objection'. TN informed that he was totally unaware of any further
objection/s.
Re responding to emails/correspondence in a timely manner, TN's email to Andy Higham mitigation of objections
Email 16h December - TN's email to DB requested DB to confirm DB's agreement on whether
there was mitigation to the objection.
DB was still not in agreement about the mitigation.
See email 31.01 .19 from TN to JC confirming that TN was happy and the 'matter can proceed'.
When DB was eventually in agreement about the mitigation, TN had some health issues so was
unable to respond to the planning officer, JC, to confirm that DB was happy with the revised
application.
Re TN not consulting with the complainant, JN - TN had been CC'd in correspondence and not
written to directly therefore TN did not communicate with JN as a CC'd recipient of the emails. If
TN had communicated with JN, the complainant, having been CC'd in emails, it could have

DB

Page 9

Page 14

Appendix A

caused a potential conflict of interest. Also, on what would TN have consulted the complainant
,JN?
The reference to 21 day from details of the planning application , there is a discretion ·tor the
Chair to override the 21 day rule.

Re email 19.12.18 the date of the planning committee in Febr~ary 2019 may be an incorrect date
as TN checked his calendar and there were two planning committees in January 2019.

On 19th December 2018 DB's planning agent email raised that the planning issues had still not
been resolved as there had been reference to elevations on the drawings etc. The complainant
and her husband amended the drawings after the email exchange from DB's agent so clearly
were not ready to go to planning committee.

The email to Andy Higham dated 24.01.2019

relayed that the drawings had been revised.
31.01 .19 Email to Andy Higham from TN to say he was happy.
At the in-person interview with Councillor TN, a series of emails were sent to the investigator,
marked as TN1.

21.03.19 INTERVIEW BY TELEPHONE OF COMPLAINANT JN

COMPLETELY UNDERSTAND THAT CONSTITUENTS GO TO LOBBY CLLR. FELT LIKE
CLLR TN HAD OVERSTEP REMIT. JAMES CLARK WAS FAB FELT LIKE NO REAL
PROCESS. SUBJ ACCESS REQUEST- LET IT GO TO COMMITTEE. CLLR TN BLOCKED
THE APPLICATION. FELT FED UP MADE ALL THE AMENDMENTS BUT FELT LIKE
DISPROPORTIONATE PLACE.
IN EMAIL IT SAID REMOVE REVISION OR LET IT GO TO COMMITTEE. UNDERSTAND
NEIGHBOURS
MR DB SOLD LAND TO JN. PLOT OF LAND. CLLR TN SAID TO PLANNERS TO SAY TO
REJECT. BOG STANDARD PLANNING APPLICATION. FELT MARGINALISED.
RE OBJECTIONS- DID NOT KNOW WHAT THEY WERE.
PLANNING SAID TOO BIG EXTENSION SO CHANGED THE PLANS ETC. GOT TO POINT
WHERE DESPITE CHANGES STILL NOT HAPPY. TRIED TO FIND OUT WHAT WERE
OBJECTIONS BUT COULD NOT SEE WHAT THESE WERE.
RE SUBJECT ACCESS REQUEST- FELT LIKE
NO OBJECTIVE DECISION MAKING.

DB

Page 10

Page 15

Appendix A

JN SAID 'FRIEND SAID DID NOT LIKE IT' -JN HAD NOT AWARE OF ANY
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DB AND CLLR TN . DB TOLD JN THAT CLLR TN AND DB
WORKED ON COMMITTEES TOGETHER AND CLLR TN HAD VISITED AND SHARED
THE SAME VIEW. DID NOT FEEL LIKE JUST A CONSTITUENT GOING'TO A CLLR.
I INFORMED JN THAT I HAD DISCUSSED THE RELATIONSHIP IF ANY WITH CLLR TN
WHEN INTERVIEWED, AND HE HAD SAID THAT DB AND HE ONLY MET AT RESIDENT
ASSOCIATION MEETINGS - GRANGE PARK.
[STOPPED CALL WHILE MS JN HAD TO TEND TO HER NEWBORN BABY] 14.46

Q- OTHER THAN MR DB SAYING THAT CLLR TN AND DB KNEW EACH OTHER - WAS
THERE ANY OTHER REASON TO BELIEVE THAT THEY WERE FRIENDS?
JN DOES NOT KNOW

Q - WOULD JN LIKE THE EMAIL FROM CLLR TN TO HEAD OF PLANNING TO SHOW
THAT THE PROCESS IS IF THERE IS AN OBJECTION AND THE OFFICERS DO NOT
AGREE WITH THE OBJECTION THEN IT CAN BE REFERRED TO THE PLANNING
COMMITTEE?
JN NOT CLEAR AS TO HOW IT WAS GOING TO PROGRESS. IF PLANNING DOES NOT
DEAL WITH IT UNDER DELEGATED POWERS THEN GOES TO PLANNING
COMMITTEE. DINA TO CHECK
RECALL IN 16.04
UNCLEAR ABOUT THE OBJECTION. WHEN JAMES CLARK LOOKED THROUGH THE
REPORT ALL THE REVISED
JN ALSO COPIED IN CLLR TN TO EMAILS FOR
PLANNING PERMISSION GRANTED SHORTLY AFTER COMPLAINT LETTER

DINA ASKED IF THERE IS ANYTHING ELSE? JN SAID ALL IN LETTER .

END CALL 16.16

6. THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE BREACH OF THE CODE AND FINDINGS

DB

Page 11

Page 16

Appendix A

Public Duties of Members

7. You have an overriding duty to act in the interests of the London Borough of Enfield's
area as a whole, but also have a particular duty to represent the view of the residents of
your ward.

The Code of Conduct for Member of London Borough of Enfield ('The Code')
General Principles of C.onduct

8. In carrying out your duties, in exercising the functions of the Authority, or otherwise
acting as a Councillor, you will be expected to observe the following general principles of
conduct. These principles will be taken into consideration when any allegation is received
of breaches of the provisions of the Code .
8.1 Selflessness
You should take decisions solely in terms of the public interest. You should not seek to
gain financial or other material benefits for yourself, your family, or friends. (Alleged
breach)
- the Complainant asserts that there was 'familiarity between he and DB a'nd therefore, lack of
independence (in breach of selflessness and honesty)'.
Investigator's Findings: From the email correspondence from both parties and from my interview
with Councillor TN (Cllr TN), Cllr TN was acting in his capacity as a Member/Councillor. Cllr TN
was approached by DB, who , in common with JN, the complainant, is a constituent of the
Grange Ward. During my interview with Cllr TN , it was confirmed that he knew DB as a
constituent and had also met DB at the Grange Park Residents' association meetings. This
information has been relayed to the complainant during my interview with her on the phone on
21 .03.19. In my view, this type of 'usual' contact by a councillor with a constituent, in no way
evidences a lack of independence, and only substantiates that Cllr TN was acting solely for DB's
interests - the public interest. The email correspondence, set out above , shows that Cllr TN only
contacted the Council, by email dated 09.11 .18, following the approach by DB on DB's concerns
about the planning application. There is no evidence whatsoever to show or suggest that Cllr TN
was acting in a personal capacity for a personal interest nor that Cllr TN made or sought any
gain, be it any financial or any other material gain. Cllr TN was acting in a selfless and honest
manner in accordance with Principle 8.1.
I do not find that Cllr TN breached this Principle 8.1

DB

Page 12

Page 17

Appendix A

8.3 Objectivity

In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, awarding
contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefit, you should make choices
on merit. (Alleged breach)
The Complainant asserts that TN did not consult or contact the Complainant or George Christou,
her husband on the planning matter. The Complainant had copied in TN to email correspondence
and had not received any acknowledgment. The Complainant asserts that TN was selective
contrary to this principle and contrary to paragraph 12(1) of the Code, Treat others with respect

and courtesy, set out below.
Investigator's Findings: During my interview with Cllr TN on 19.03.19, Cllr TN confirmed that he
was copied in on emails from the complainant, the representatives etc. This was also confirmed
with my consideration of copies of the email correspondence from all parties.

During my

interview with Cllr TN, he raised that, as a copied in recipient, _it was not imperative or even
custom for a copied in recipient to reply/acknowledge or confirm any matters raised in the body of
the email. Cllr TN helpfully pointed out that this could give rise to a 'conflict of interest' if he had
responded to emails on which he had been copied in. This is a relevant and valid point. I have
not seen any evidence to substantiate, support or suggest that Cllr TN was disrespectful in his
correspondence or in any other manner, either actively or by omission.
I do not find that Cllr TN breached this Principle 8.3

8.5 Openness
You should be as open as possible about all the decisions and actions you take. You
should give reasons for your decisions and restrict information only when the wider
public interest clearly demands. (Alleged breach)
The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this principle, based on the above
complaints :

'Mr Neville's non-transparent intervention in this matter along with the lack of impartiality (in
breach of openness)' and
'the obscurity of his objection .... ' and
'his failure to respond to both JC and us (again in breach of openness)'.
Investigator's Findings : The email from Cllr TN, on 09.11.18 is to Andy Higham the Head of
Planning sent as a result of DB's approach to Cllr TN about his concern about the planning
application. The email sets out reasons as to why the concerns have been raised by DB. In my
view, Cllr's TN 'intervention' is transparent based on clear, valid reasons about the objections to
the planning application. In fact, there is clear correspondence between DB's planning

DB

Page 13

Page 18

Appendix A

representative, the complainant's husband, ~ and the planning officer, James
Clark, about the revised drawings until 20 th December 2018. It is only from this date, that there is
consensus between the complainant's husband, DB's planning representative and the planning
officer that the revised drawings are agreed and acceptable.
On 27.11 .18 in response to an email from James Clark, Cllr TN responds and apologises for the
delays in replying to James Clark ' Dear James, I'm sorry to say that I haven't due to a number of
other pressures,. That said I will attempt to so at the weekend'

On 18.12.18, Cllr TN had emailed DB to inform DB that the party wall issues were irrelevant to,
and should not impact on the planning approval. In fact, Cllr TN's email states ' I'm duty bound to
tell James Clark accordingly, particularly as I'm due away'.

Cllr TN's actions do not support that his actions or omissions evidence any lack of impartiality,
that the objections to the planning application were obscure or that he breached the principle of
open!'less by not reverting to the planning officer.
I do not find that Cllr TN breac~ed Principle 8.5
8.6 Honesty
You have a duty to declare any private interests relating to your public duties and to take
steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. (Alleged
breach)
The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this principle, based on the above
complaint.
Investigator's Findings : I have addressed this complaint, above.
I do not find that Cllr TN as breached this Principle 8.6·
8.8 Respect for Others
You should promote equality by not discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by
treating people with respect, regardless of their race, age, religion, gender, sexual
orientation or disability. You should respect the impartial role of the authority's statutory
officers, and its other employees. (Alleged breach).
Rules of Conduct stipulates:
Rule 12(1) Treat others with respect and courtesy. (Alleged breach)
The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this Rule 12(1) and of principle 8.8
Respect for Others, based on the above complaint.

DB

Page 14

Page 19

Appendix A

Investigator's Findings : Principle 8.8 and is linked to Rule 12(1) Treat others with respect and
courtesy. I have addressed this complaint, above.
I do not find that Cllr TN has breached Principle 8.8 or Rule 12(1 ).

Rules of Conduct stipulates:
12(3) You should not use or attempt to use your position as a member improperly to
confer on or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage.
(Alleged breach)
The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this Rule 12(3), based on the above
complaint.
Investigator's Findings : Principle 8.1 is linked to Rule 12(3). I have addressed this complaint
above.
I do not find that Cllr TN has breached Principle 8.1 or Rule ~ 2(3).

8.10 Stewardship

You should do whatever you are able to do ~o ensure that the Authority uses its resources
prudently and in accordance with the law. (Alleged breach)
The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this Principle, based on the above
complaint. 'I would also add that Mr Neville's behaviour is a breach of stewardship, as taking this

planning application to a committee is clearly disproportionate and will contradict his obligation to
ensure that Enfield Council uses its resources prudently. Being subjected to this .abuse of power
does not strengthen my trust and confidence in ite integrity of Enfield Council, and I am of the
view that, contrary to paragraph 11 of the Code, these actions bring both Mr Neville and Enfield
council into disrepute'.

Rule 11 Expectations of Conduct
You shall at all times conduct yourself in a manner which will maintain and strengthen the
public's trust and confidence in the integrity of the Authority and never undertake any
action which would bring the Authority, you or other member or officers generally, into
disrepute. (Alleged breach)

The Complainant asserts that there has been a breach of this Rule 11, based on the above
complaint.

DB

Page 15

Page 20

Appendix A

Investigator's Findings : The emails about the planning application and the revised drawings,
between the parties continue up until 20.12.18. This appears to be when all parties are in
consensus about the planning application -

not the party wall issues. Within email

correspondence, between Cllr TN and DB, Cllr TN raises to DB, that he would like to resolve the
planning matter before going on holiday from 18.12.18 to 09.01.19. It is not until 31.01.19, by
way of email, that Cllr TN confirmed to Andy Higham, Head of Planning that'/ confirm that I'm
now happy and the matter can proceed'.

During my interview with Cllr TN, he confirmed that DB had confirmed to him on 29.01 .19 that DB
'he could live with the planning application'.
I do not see any supporting evidence that Cllr TN's conduct demonstrated actions/omissions that
would undermine the public's trust and confidence in the Council/Authority nor that anything that
Cllr TN did or .omitted to do, could or would bring the Cm,mcil/Authority and/or Cllr TN into
disrepute.
I do not find that Cllr TN breached Principle 8.10.
I do not find that Cllr TN breached Rule 11.

Conclusion

For the reasons set out above, I recommend that the Council finds that Councillor Neville has not
been in breach of the Code of conduct for Members of the London Borough of Enfield - Principles
8.1, 8.3,8.5,8.6,8.8 and 8.10 . and has not breached Rules of Conduct 11, 12(1) and 12(3).
Dina Boodhun
Senior Lawyer
Legal Services
London Borough of Enfield
0208 379 6442

Dina.boodhun@enfield.gov.uk
Dated : 17rH July 2019

DB

Page 16

Page 21

Appendix B

London Borough of Enfield
Councillor Conduct Appeal Form
This form is to be completed in full if you wish to appeal against a Monitoring Officer
decision regarding a complaint against a councillor.
Complaint

Breach of Councillor Conduct Code

Name of Complainant

Josie Nicolaou & George Christou

Councillor(s) Involved

Terence Neville

Finding of Monitoring Officer

No
bre
ach

Complainant notified of Monitoring Officer decision

Date:

Reason(s) for Appeal (Please list below and attach any supporting evidence)
Please add more reasons if you need to.

1.
The report is badly drafted and has sentences that are not even complete; mainly, this appears to be
a collection of timelines and telephone attendance notes. (bottom of P3, bottom of P10
(‘understand neighbours’ . This shows a complete disregard of this complaint. Provided me with a
timeline, which is useful, but doesn’t add to the investigation of the complaint/final decision.

2.
Still not clear on which powers Mr Neville relied on to hold the planning indefinitely. There has been
no explanation as to why Mr Neville was able to stall planning, despite the planning officer
confirming that the application was in line with relevant regulations/legislation. Why was there a
requirement for Mr Neville to be ‘happy’ with the application if it conformed with the requirements,
as confirmed by JC? Why did it take so long for the matter to go to committee? The amends

Page 22

Appendix B
required by JC had been made and so why was TN allowed to defer the planning approval? There
has been no proper response provided in relation to these points.
The point has been made, several times in the report, that the property is in a ‘conservation area’.
The relevance of this is not clear – as the planning application had been made taking into account
any conservation matters and, as expressed in initial letter of complaint, others had extended, on an
even larger scale, at the same time, and was not met with these issues.
Contrary to the comments on p9, TN did not ‘raise objections on DB’s behalf’ it would appear that
he simply wrote to AH and said that AH ‘should reject’ the planning – no sufficient reason was given
in the correspondence as to why the planning should be rejected; DB’s view has not been blocked.

3
P10 – ‘there is a discretion for the chair to override the 21-day rule’ – we were never informed of
this, where is this set out? This is not made clear in the report.
P10 – changes made to report and so ‘clearly were not ready to go to planning committee’ – not the
case. The drawings were amended for DB but JC was already happy with the amends and the
drawings and, but for TN’s objections would have granted planning, so this should not have
hindered the matter going to committee.
P11 – Dina to check planning process – no response in relation to this.
P16 – I find the comments on P16 objectionable – in that DB could ‘live with the planning
application’. Herein lies the abuse of power. It is not for DB to be happy with the application, it is for
him to put forward any objections and, if any hold merit, in line with JC’s duties to consider in line
with legislation/regulations, then this can force us to amend/reject. The matter was not for planning
to remain stalled until DB was ‘happy’.

Date appeal submitted (within 10 working days of receipt of decision)
Yes/No YES

Date

What are the relevant matters that you feel should be taken into account?
As set
out
above

Details of any new evidence to support your appeal

Page 23

Appendix B

Comments/Advice from Independent Person (where appropriate)

Please return to Jeremy Chambers, Monitoring Officer, London Borough of Enfield, PO Box 54, Civic
Centre, Silver Street, Enfield, Middlesex, EN1 3XF or email: Jeremy.Chambers@enfield.gov.uk k

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 25

Appendix D

London Borough of Enfield
Procedure for Hearing Complaints against Councillors and Coopted Members and for Appeals against Monitoring Officer
Decisions on Complaints
1.

General Principles

1.1

The Councillor Conduct Committee will decide, on a balance of probabilities,
whether the allegation(s) is or are upheld. They will be able to call on the
advice of relevant council officers and the Independent Person, who had not
previously been consulted on the complaint. (where we have two
independent persons)

1.2

Papers will be sent out in advance of the hearing, including the Monitoring
Officer/Investigating Officer report with all the evidence gathered, and
representations from both the complainant and the member complained
against. They will both have the opportunity to comment, in advance, on the
report and evidence put forward. Any comments will be provided for the
committee in advance of the meeting.

1.3

The Committee will make a decision by considering the Monitoring
Officer/Investigating officer’s report and any representations by the
Monitoring/Investigating officer or their representative and the written
representations made by the complainant or member complained against, and
any information provided at a hearing. Both parties will have the opportunity
to make written representations, irrespective of whether they are invited to
attend the hearing.

1.4

There will be no requirement for either the complainant or the member(s)
complained against, to attend committee hearings unless the committee
decides otherwise. All parties will be advised of this beforehand.

1.5

If the Committee does decide to invite them to attend, the complainant and the
member complained against may be accompanied during the investigation
hearing.

1.6

The public and press will be excluded for those parts of the hearing where
confidential or exempt information under Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972, as amended, is disclosed. At the start of the hearing,
the Committee will make a decision as to whether or not all or part of the
hearing should be held in public.

2.

Procedure at Investigation Hearings

1

Page 26

Appendix D

The Legal Representative will be the advisor to the Committee and may seek
further information or ask questions at any point in these proceedings. During
the hearing all questions and other proceedings shall be addressed through
the chair.
2.1

Presentation of the Monitoring Officer Report
a. The Monitoring/Investigating Officer will present his/her report and any
relevant information to the committee members.
b. The Independent Person, who has been consulted on the Monitoring
Officer decision, may include their comments.
c. The committee members will have an opportunity to ask questions of the
Monitoring Officer and the Independent Person.

2.2

If the Complainant and Member Complained Against are Invited to
Attend the Hearing
a. The Committee will consider the merits of each case, individually, when
deciding if they feel it is necessary to invite the complainant and member
complained about to attend the hearing.
b. If the Committee require the attendance of the member complained
against and complainant, they will specify the reasons for their
attendance in advance.
c. In these cases the chair will decide how to manage any contributions to
be made at the meeting, including any representations and make this
clear to all present at the beginning of the meeting.

2.3

Consideration of the Outcome
a. The Monitoring/Investigating Officer, Independent Person and any other
relevant parties will all withdraw. The Legal Representative and
Committee Administrator will remain.
b. The Committee will consider all the information and make a decision as
to whether or not there has been a breach of the code of conduct.
c. If it is decided that there had been a breach of the code, the Committee
will then consider and agree what sanctions should be imposed. A list of
possible sanctions is set out in Appendix A.

2.4

Outcome of the Hearing

2

Page 27

Appendix D

A formal written notice of the decision will be communicated to all parties
including the member complained against, the Monitoring Officer/Investigating
Officer, the members of the committee and the complainant with reasons.
This must be within five working days of the conclusion of the hearing.
2.5

General Recommendations from the Hearing
After the hearing the Committee may consider whether there are any general
recommendations in relation to ethical governance matters which they may
wish to make arising from consideration of the allegation.

3.

Procedure at an Appeal Hearing Against a Decision by the
Monitoring Officer
The attendance of the complainant and member complained against will not
be required unless the Committee decides otherwise.

3.1

Presentation of the Monitoring Officer Report
a. The Monitoring/Investigating Officer will present his report and any other
information to the committee members along with any comments
submitted in writing by the complainant or member(s) complained against.
b. The Independent Person, who had been consulted on the Monitoring
Officer decision, may include their comments.
c. The committee members will have an opportunity to ask questions of both
the Monitoring Officer and the Independent Person.

3.2

Consideration of the Evidence
a. The Monitoring/Investigating Officer and Independent Person will then
withdraw. The Legal Representative and Committee Administrator will
remain in the appeal hearing.
b. The Committee will consider all the information and make a decision as to
whether or not to uphold the Monitoring/Investigating Officer decision.

3.3

Agree Outcome
If the outcome of the appeal results in Committee confirming that a breach of
the code has occurred then it will need to consider what sanctions it wishes to
impose as a result. A list of sanctions is attached as Appendix A.

3.4

Outcome of Hearing

3

Page 28

Appendix D

A formal written notice of the decision will be communicated to all parties
including the member complained against, the Monitoring Officer/Investigating
Officer, the members of the committee and the complainant with reasons.
This must be within five working days of the conclusion of the appeal hearing.

3.5

General Recommendations from the Hearing
After the appeal hearing the Committee may consider whether there are any
general recommendations in relation to ethical governance matters which they
may wish to make arising from consideration of the allegation.

4

Page 29

Appendix D

Appendix A
In the event of a finding of a breach of the Code, the Committee will have the option
of recommending a sanction against the member concerned. This can include:


Reporting the findings to full Council.



Recommending to the relevant Group Leader that the councillor be removed
from relevant meetings of the Authority of which they are a member.



Recommending to the Leader of the Council that the member be removed
from the Cabinet or from particular portfolio responsibilities.



Withdrawing facilities provided to the member by the Council – such as
computer access and/or e mail or internet access.



Excluding the member from the Council’s offices or other premises for a
defined period of time – with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for
the purpose of attending meetings of the Authority of which they are a
member.



Publishing the findings in the local media.

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 31

Agenda Item 5

COUNCILLOR CONDUCT COMMITTEE - 4.9.2019

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COUNCILLOR CONDUCT COMMITTEE
HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 4 SEPTEMBER 2019
COUNCILLORS
PRESENT

Glynis Vince and Elaine Hayward and Tolga Aramaz
Christine Chamberlain and Sarah Jewell (Independent
Persons)

ABSENT

Ergin Erbil and Christine Hamilton

OFFICERS:

Jeremy Chambers (Director of Law and Governance) and
Jayne Middleton-Albooye (Head of Legal Services) Penelope
Williams (Secretary)

Also Attending:

Frances Woodhead (Independent Investigator), Councillors
and members of the public.

1
WELCOME AND APOLOGIES
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Christine Hamilton and
Councillor Ergin Erbil.
2
SUBSTITUTIONS
Councillor Tolga Aramaz stood in as substitute for Councillor Ergin Erbil who
was unable to attend the meeting as he had been a witness in the
investigation.
3
DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
There were no declarations of interest.
4
APPEAL HEARING
The Committee received the report of the Monitoring Officer (Report No: 86)
with details of the appeal against a monitoring officer decision on a breach of
the Councillor Code of Conduct by Councillor Caliskan, Leader of the Council.
Jayne Middleton Albooye (Deputy Monitoring Officer) set out the process for
an appeal:


Presentation of the Monitoring Officer’s Investigation report including
any representations, the view of the independent person and with an
opportunity for the committee to ask questions.
-1-

Page 32
COUNCILLOR CONDUCT COMMITTEE - 4.9.2019




Consideration of the evidence by the committee.
Agreement of the outcome and if there was confirmation that a breach
of the code had occurred consider what sanctions should be imposed.

1.

Presentation of the Monitoring Officer’s Investigation Report

1.1

Jeremy Chambers, Monitoring Officer highlighted the following:

1.1.1 A complaint had been received from Councillor Brett on the 11 January
2019 alleging that Councillor Caliskan undermined her in front of
officers and members, wrote to her and behaved in an intimidating
manner and made it very difficult for Councillor Brett to perform her role
as Cabinet Member for Public Health.
1.1.2 Councillor Brett alleged that Councillor Caliskan breached a number of
the expectations of the Members Code of Conduct, as follows: a. paragraph 8.8 (respect for others),
b. paragraph 11 (conduct yourself in a manner which will maintain
and strengthen the public’s trust and confidence in the integrity
of the authority and never undertake any action which would
bring the Authority, you or members or officers generally into
disrepute),
c. paragraph 12.1 (treat others with respect and courtesy), and
d. paragraph 12.2(b) (not bully any person).
1.1.3 The Monitoring Officer considered the complaint in accordance with
Council procedures, was satisfied that it fell within the remit of the Code
of Conduct and merited investigation. He said that he was and
remained completely satisfied that the issue of Cllr Caliskan’s conduct
was a matter that could be properly considered under the Code of
Conduct.
1.1.4 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Monitoring Officer
sought the views of one of the two Independent Persons appointed to
deal with member conduct. For this complaint Sarah Jewell was
consulted. On 15th January 2019 Sarah Jewell agreed that the
complaint should be referred for further investigation.
1.1.5 The Council’s Constitution allowed him to carry out the investigation
himself as Monitoring Officer or, as in this case, appoint another person
to carry out the investigation in his name. On 22nd January 2019 he
appointed Frances Woodhead of Eversheds Sutherland (International)
LLP as Investigating Officer to carry out an investigation in to the
complaint. Frances Woodhead was an experienced and well-respected
public-sector lawyer used to dealing with complaints under the Code of
Conduct.
1.2

Frances Woodhead presented her report, highlighting the following:

-2-

Page 33
COUNCILLOR CONDUCT COMMITTEE - 4.9.2019

1.2.1 She had considered a number of documents included with the
complaint and had interviewed Councillor Brett, Councillor Caliskan
(the Leader), Councillor Anderson (the Deputy Leader at the time),
Councillor Orhan, Councillor Erbil (the Whip), Councillor Pite and
Jeremy Chambers (Monitoring Officer).
1.2.2 The complaint raised a number of issues which she summarised as
Councillor Caliskan repeatedly undermining Councillor Brett in front of
officers and elected members and behaving in an intimidating manner,
making it difficult for Councillor Brett to perform her role as a Cabinet
Member.
1.2.3 She considered whether the complaint fell within the remit of the Code
of Conduct and concluded that it did for the following reasons:o The general principles of the Code were engaged about
integrity, good leadership and treating others with respect.
o The specific expectations in the Council Code of Conduct were
referred to in the complaint, for example that others should be
treated with respect and not bullied.
o The case of Harvey v Ledbury Town Council and the provisions
in the Localism Act 2011 require the Council to investigate
allegations which fall within the Code of Conduct and allege a
failure to comply with the Code. Other alternative procedures
should not be followed instead.
o The Leader’s alleged actions related to the Council’s
administrative and governance functions.
o The complaint raised serious issues which were not vexatious or
trivial.
1.2.4 The detail of the evidence she considered and her conclusions about
each of the complaints were set out in detail in her report attached at
Appendix A to the report. She concluded that some of the matters were
about a breakdown in relationship or misunderstood communication,
issues of party discipline or misunderstanding rather than a breach of
the Code of Conduct. In the report she recognised the breakdown in
trust between Councillor Caliskan and Councillor Brett and suggested
that an apology and mediation would be a way forward. Further
reasons were set out in her letter dated 28 June 2019 to Jeremy
Chambers (page 38-40 of the agenda pack).
1.2.5 She had found that there was a breach of the Code of Conduct in
respect of the action taken to remove Councillor Brett from her position
as Cabinet Member. This was referred to in section 4.9 of her report.
The decision was a finely balanced one and this was reflected in her
findings that in respect of the allegations about general bullying she
had not found a breach of the Code of Conduct. She had reached a

-3-

Page 34
COUNCILLOR CONDUCT COMMITTEE - 4.9.2019

different conclusion about the way Councillor Brett’s Cabinet
responsibilities were removed.
1.2.6 In January 2019 the government’s Committee on Standards in Public
Life reported on its review of Local Government Ethical Standards.
Frances Woodhead stated that the report made the point that whilst
there will be robust political disagreement, the tone of engagement
should be civil and constructive.
1.2.7 Frances Woodhead stated that she did not suggest that Councillor
Caliskan was not entitled to remove Councillor Brett from her Cabinet
role or notify Cabinet members she had done so but concluded that the
way it was done and the timing was inappropriate. Her decision
showed a lack of respect for Councillor Brett’s decision to declare an
interest and disregard for the apology she gave in an email on 16
November 2018.
1.2.8 Frances Woodhead also commented on some of the points made by
Councillor Caliskan in her appeal. Councillor Caliskan’s appeal
complained that the process and investigation were flawed, that the
Council’s process was being used for political purposes, that she acted
within the Constitution and guidance given by Jeremy Chambers, that
no rationale or example was provided to justify bullying, that the
investigation was biased because all the witnesses interviewed were
opponents of Councillor Caliskan.
1.2.9 Frances Woodhead explained her findings that the communication of
this decision as well as the wider publication to Jeremy Chambers and
the subsequent confirmation on the website caused distress to
Councillor Brett. Councillor Brett also received queries from the press
about what had happened.
1.2.10 She concluded that it was a disproportionate action on the part of the
Leader to temporarily remove Councillor Brett as a Cabinet Member
because she had disclosed an interest in the North London Waste
Project. In Frances Woodhead’s experience, it was not unusual for
ward councillors to declare interests and not vote on issues which were
sensitive in their ward. Councillor Brett sought advice before doing so
and the councillors she interviewed said her views were well known so
it should not have been a surprise.
1.2.11 Frances Woodhead referred to the timeline of e-mails referred to at
pages 26-28 of Councillor Caliskan’s letter of 16 June (Appendix B to
the report) which did not set out the text in full. In explaining her
findings, Frances Woodhead set out the full timeline of these e-mails.
Overall, the tone and timing of the emails, and the poor organisation of
the meeting on Monday 19 November meant Councillor Brett was

-4-

Page 35
COUNCILLOR CONDUCT COMMITTEE - 4.9.2019

treated badly and this on balance amounted to intimidation and
bullying. It was also noted that Councillor Brett had offered an apology.
1.2.12 Frances Woodhead concluded by saying in her report that this was
finely balanced and she had also thought that Councillor Brett could
have been better organised and had also misinterpreted some things
which had happened in the past.
1.2.13 It was not the most extreme form of bullying and there were faults on
both sides. She considered the general principles about high level of
conduct which councillors were expected to follow and concluded that
this was not good leadership.
1.3

Evidence given by Jeremy Chambers:

1.3.1 Following the investigation Jeremy Chambers determined:
a.

b.

That Councillor Caliskan failed to treat Councillor Brett with
respect in removing her from her role as Cabinet Member
prematurely and prior to meeting with her to discuss the
concerns Councillor Caliskan had about collective Cabinet
decision making. This was contrary to principles in the Member
Code of Conduct about treating others with respect (paragraphs
8 and 12)
That the way the Leader made and communicated decisions
about this, how arrangements for a meeting with Councillor Brett
were made and the conduct of the meeting on 19 November
2018 amounted to bullying of Councillor Brett by the Leader of
the Council, Councillor Caliskan. This behaviour was in breach
of paragraph 12.2(b) of the Code of Conduct.

1.3.2 The Investigating Officer had recommended: a. That an informal mediated meeting takes place between Councillor
Brett and Councillor Caliskan with a view to facilitating understanding
about improved effective and respectful communication, behavioural
styles and the interplay between party discipline and a councillor’s duty
and right to declare an interest in an item of business.
b. That Councillor Caliskan offers a written apology to Councillor Brett
about removing her from Cabinet.
c. That a confidential statement is issued by Councillor Caliskan to all
Cabinet Members acknowledging that the decision to remove
Councillor Brett from Cabinet was done with undue haste and in an
inappropriate fashion which was contrary to the Code of Conduct for
Members.
1.3.3 Jeremy Chambers explained that the Investigating Officer’s
recommendations had formed part of his decision in this matter as
Monitoring Officer. On reaching his decision he also considered the
-5-

Page 36
COUNCILLOR CONDUCT COMMITTEE - 4.9.2019

following matters, which had been considered by the Investigating
Officer: 



The provisions in the Localism Act 2011 and the Code of
Conduct for Enfield Council.
Relevant caselaw where the Localism Act had been applied.
The thoroughness of the Investigating Officer’s investigation.

1.3.4 The Monitoring Officer’s decision in this matter was appealed by
Councillor Caliskan. Details of the grounds of appeal and the
Monitoring Officer response were included in the documents before the
committee. Jeremy Chambers drew the Committee’s attention to the
following matters: a. There were grounds for judicial review. The appeal process was
not exhausted and until the end of the appeal process, any
application for judicial review would be premature. The Council’s
Code of Conduct was consistent with the Localism Act 2011 and
fit for purpose.
b. With regard to the councillor’s right to seek the views of an
independent person, Councillor Caliskan was entitled to seek
the views of the independent person about the matter and she
was advised of this by Jeremy Chambers in an email dated 4
February 2019. The Council had appointed 2 independent
persons to preserve fairness and so that conflicts of interest
could be avoided.
c. He consulted with the independent person in accordance with
Section 28(7)(b) of the Localism Act 2011.
d. The concerns about a smear campaign and party-political
dispute considered by the Investigating Officer, were also
considered by the Monitoring Officer in making his findings.
e. Regarding using dual processes, the Monitoring Officer said that
he was obliged to deal with complaints where a breach of the
Councillor Code of Conduct was alleged in accordance with the
arrangements the Council had set up under the Localism Act
2011. He had no control over or involvement in any separate
political or party disciplinary processes.
f. The complaint of the Councillor raised a number of serious
allegations about bullying and breach of the Councillor Code of
Conduct. He had carefully considered whether this matter was
suitable for informal resolution or no further action.
g. Jeremy Chambers accepted that Councillor Caliskan was
entitled to remove and appoint Cabinet Members and had
previously advised Councillor Caliskan about that power. The
conclusions that he and the Investigating Officer reached in this
case were focussed on how that power was used and the
behaviour of Councillor Caliskan at the time of her decision.
h. Jeremy Chambers did not agree with the view that the
complaints procedure had been used to settle an internal
political dispute. He also refuted the suggestion that the

-6-

Page 37
COUNCILLOR CONDUCT COMMITTEE - 4.9.2019

investigation was biased or that he used Council processes and
procedures to be used for political purposes.
1.4

Questions/Comments from Councillors:

1.4.1 In response to a query from Councillor Vince it was confirmed that the
Council’s Code of Conduct was fully in compliance with the Localism
Act 2011. In response to a query from Councillor Hayward, on the
allegation that she had only interviewed councillors favourable to
Councillor Brett, Frances Woodhead confirmed that she had the choice
of which councillors to interview but had felt that interviewing other
councillors would only have been relevant if investigating the
complaints which had not warranted further investigation. She had
interviewed those councillors who had been present at the meeting with
Councillor Brett and Councillor Caliskan.
1.4.2 Members agreed that the information was well documented and the
chain of emails spoke for itself. Frances Woodhead confirmed that
Jeremy Chambers was interviewed as part of the investigation.
Councillor Aramaz observed that this was council matter not a party
matter. Under the Strong Leader/Cabinet model, the Leader had
responsibility to make Cabinet appointments. There was no concept of
suspension. He felt that this was not in question. The concern was
over the way the decision was taken.
1.4.3 In response to the question about Councillor Caliskan’s additional
submissions, the response given by Frances Woodhead that they
should be considered, but that in her view they actually did not say
anything new that had not already been taken into account.
1.4.4 The view was expressed that the Leader’s arguments were incorrect as
the Councillor Conduct Committee was the correct forum for dealing
with complaints of this sort and it was the place to deal with complaints,
even from members within the same party.
1.4.5 There was a view expressed that the integrity of both Jeremy
Chambers and Frances Woodhead had been challenged and a
question as to whether the appeal could be seen as disrespectful, but it
was acknowledged that Councillor Caliskan had the right to appeal.
1.4.6 The investigation report was acknowledged as being very thorough.
1.5 View of Independent Person
Sarah Jewell, Independent Person confirmed that she was consulted on
the complaint and had advised that this was a serious complaint which
warranted investigation. She felt that the investigation report produced
was fair and proportionate and the determination of the Monitoring
Officer, Jeremy Chambers, was reasonable.
1.6

Representation from Councillor Caliskan
-7-

Page 38
COUNCILLOR CONDUCT COMMITTEE - 4.9.2019

Councillor Caliskan had been unable to attend the meeting but had
requested that a statement that she had submitted in support of her
appeal be read out which Jayne Middleton-Albooye (Deputy Monitoring
Officer) did. The statement can be summarised as follows: an apology
for non-attendance in person and a reiteration of some of her appeal
points. She set out the difficulty she had faced as the first female
BAME Leader of the London Borough of Enfield and her feeling that
this has led to harassment and unconscious bias which in turn has
meant that she faced criticism for taking a decision that other political
group leaders have frequently taken in order to maintain the integrity of
collective Cabinet decision making and political party discipline.
The Leader pointed out that documents she had submitted as part of
her appeal detailed why she thought the investigation itself to be
problematic, including the choice of witnesses and lack of consideration
of broader political context. She pointed out again that she had sought
the advice of the Monitoring Officer and from political colleagues in
Enfield and across London. She also stated that she thought Councillor
Brett would understand the decision given that Councillor Brett had
held a senior political position and that she would therefore understand
the importance of collective decision making. Councillor Caliskan also
pointed out that section 4 in the report noted that Councillor Brett
sought legal advice from Jeremy Chambers who had informed her she
was not required to declare an interest or leave the Cabinet meeting.
She repeated her view that she believed there had been a politicisation
of a Council process which had cost the Council time and money.
At this point in the meeting Jeremy Chambers, Frances Woodhead, Sarah
Jewell, and all members of the press and public left the room while the
committee considered all the information provided and made a decision as to
whether or not to uphold the Monitoring Officer decision.
1.

Consideration of Evidence by the Committee

The Committee reached their decision on a balance of probabilities. The
Committee took into consideration the views of members and the independent
persons, the appeal representations and supporting documents, the
representations of the complainant, the report, and written and oral evidence
of the Monitoring Officer and Investigating Officer, relevant law and case-law
and the legal advice to the committee.


In considering whether the Code had been engaged that the Council’s
Code of Conduct refers to matters raised in the complaint eg. treating
others with respect and not bullying, the case of Harvey v Ledbury
Town Council in support of the decision that the complaint was one
which should have been considered under the Code of Conduct rather
than under an alternative procedure, that the issues raised were

-8-

Page 39
COUNCILLOR CONDUCT COMMITTEE - 4.9.2019







serious which the Monitoring Officer could not dismiss as frivolous or
vexatious, that the correct procedure had been followed by the
Monitoring Officer, that Councillor Caliskan was acting in her capacity
as Councillor in relation to the actions which amounted to a breach. As
supported by case law, that it would not have been appropriate to use
other processes as suggested by Councillor Caliskan in her appeal.
The Committee also considered the evidence put forward that the
complaint was politically motivated but found that the investigator and
the Monitoring Officer had considered this and were satisfied that it was
not politically motivated. They were satisfied that the Monitoring Officer
had followed due process in investigating the complaint, and in making
his decision.
In relation to whether the Code of Conduct had been breached, the
Committee recognised Councillor Caliskan’s right to remove Councillor
Brett from her Cabinet role and notify Cabinet members she had done
so but they agreed with the decision that it was the way it was done
and the timing that was inappropriate. They also took into consideration
the fact that she had apologised and this apology was disregarded.
Members further considered the sanctions which could be imposed and
decided to use the recommendations in Frances Woodhead’s report as
a basis for the sanctions agreed.

At this point in the meeting Jeremy Chambers, Frances Woodhead, Sarah
Jewell, and all members of the press and public returned to the meeting room.
AGREED:
1.

Not to uphold the appeal.

2.

To uphold the Monitoring Officer decision based on the investigation
report that Councillor Caliskan had been in breach of the Councillor
Code of Conduct in that she failed to treat Councillor Brett with respect
in removing her from her role as Cabinet Member prematurely and prior
to meeting with her to discuss the concerns about collective decision
making. This was contrary to principles in the Councillor Code of
Conduct about treating others with respect (paragraphs 8 and 12).
They also agreed that Councillor Caliskan’s behaviour in the way she
made and communicated decisions about this matter was also in
breach of paragraph 12.2 (b) of the Code of Conduct.

3.

To impose the following sanctions:
a.

That Councillor Caliskan agree to attend an informal mediated
meeting, led by a professional mediator, with Councillor Brett with a
view to facilitating understanding about improved effective and
respectful communication, behavioural styles and the interplay
between party discipline and a councillor’s duty and right to declare
an interest in an item of business. The meeting to take place as
soon as could be arranged and not later than the end of October
2019.

-9-

Page 40
COUNCILLOR CONDUCT COMMITTEE - 4.9.2019

b.

c.

d.

That Councillor Caliskan offer a written apology to Councillor Brett
about removing her from Cabinet. Such apology to be approved by
the Deputy Monitoring Officer within 2 weeks of the receipt of this
letter.
That Councillor Caliskan make a statement to the 20 November
2019 full Council meeting acknowledging that the decision to
remove Councillor Brett from Cabinet was done with undue haste
and in an inappropriate fashion which was contrary to the
Councillor Code of Conduct.
If Councillor Caliskan did not agree to implement the sanctions
listed above the Committee will place a statement/advert in the
local press and on the Council website, publicising the Committee’s
recommendations.

5
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The minutes of the meeting held on 3 July 2019 were agreed as a correct
record.
6
DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS
NOTED the dates agreed for future meetings as follows:



Wednesday 4 December 2019
Tuesday 3 March 2020

- 10 -

